1960

Ludean H. Cox v. Edward C. Carlisle : Brief of Plaintiff and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Fences fell and the Manti City grader plowed its way across the neatly furrowed farmland. Manti City was opening up a platted street outside the Manti city limits, which the Plaintiff and her predecessors had been farming for several generations.

Immediately upon obtaining notice of the heavy equipment's invasion, Plaintiff filed suit to prevent the trespass and obtain damages for the injury to the growing crops, the

destroyed leveled farm land and the engineered irrigation system.

Trial was held on May 28, 1959, in the District Court in and for Sanpete County, State of Utah. The Court dismissed the Plaintiff-Appellant's action and declared that the Defendant-Respondent Manti City was the owner of the 66 foot strip of land located between Plaintiff-Appellant's Parcels 99 and 113, Plat "A" Manti City Survey, and that said strip of land was a public road.

This is an appeal from the Judgment and Decree in favor of the several Defendants-Respondents entered and filed on February 26, 1960, based upon the Trial Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

For convenience, the parties will be referred to as they appeared in the Court below.

PLEADINGS

The Complaint alleges that the Plaintiff is the owner of Parcel 99 and Parcel 113 and all land located between said Parcels in Plat "A", Manti City Survey, Sanpete County, Utah.

It further states that Defendants unlawfully without Plaintiff's consent and against her repeated protests, entered upon her farm, destroyed her fences, crushed and damaged the crops planted thereon, and destroyed the leveled grade and engineered irrigation system on said land.

The Plaintiff asked the Court for a restraining order to prevent the Defendant Manti City from building a road on the strip of land farmed by Plaintiff, for \$1,000.00 special damages and \$5,000.00 general damages.

The Defendant's answered Plaintiff's complaint by claiming ownership of the strip of land between Parcels 99 and 113, in that the said strip of land was laid out and dedicated as a public street as shown on the official Plat of Manti City.

EVIDENCE

The Defendant Manti City is an Incorporated City of the third class in Sanpete County, Utah. The Plaintiff is the owner of an 80 acre farm which includes Parcels 99 and 113 and the strip of land between them, said farm being located north of the City limits. The official plat of Manti City shows a 66 foot wide public road between the said Parcels 99 and 113.

It was stipulated that taxes had not been paid on the said 66 foot strip of land. It was Plaintiff's evidence that the premises had always been part of Plaintiff and her predecessors farm.

Parcel 113 was deeded to William A. Cox on December 21, 1871, from Luther T. Tuttle, Mayor of Manti City. Parcel 99 was deeded to William Bench on December 14, 1871, from Luther T. Tuttle, Mayor Manti City. Both of these conveyances were made pursuant to the act of the Utah Legislature of February 17, 1869, (Compiled Laws of 1869, Sec. 1166 et seq.) and an act of Congress of March 2, 1867.

The Mayor of Manti received Title to all the land (both Parcels 99 and 113 and the strip between) in trust for the several use and benefit of the occupants of the said City by a patent from the United States of America dated September 2, 1872. This patent was issued pursuant to the

provisions of the Federal Townsite Act of 1867 (Act of March 2, 1867, 14th Stat. 541, 43 USCA, 718.)

Manti City had been settled and occupied as a Townsite for many years having been incorporated in 1851 under the laws of the Territory of Utah.

On January 25, 1892, the official Plat of Manti City prepared in February of 1871, was adopted. It showed that Parcels 99 and 113, Plat "A" Manti City Survey, were separated by a road 66 feet wide and 759 feet long.

The Defendants-Respondents rely upon the official plat to prove their title to the said strip of land. They also introduced testimony from three witnesses to prove that the public once used this road. Plaintiff-Appellant believes that the witnesses testimony does not show there was ever a road on the land in question.

The Plaintiff-Appellant introduced testimony showing that for over 70 years there has never been a road on the said land and that the land was always used as part of the farm of Plaintiff and her predecessors in interest.

The Plaintiff also introduced in evidence to prove there never was a road in existence, Civil Case No. 786, in the District Court in and for Sanpete County, Utah, which case resulted in a Decree disconnecting and detaching this and other property from the city limits of Manti. This case was commenced in 1910 by a Petition signed by 43 owners of real property located immediately north of the City which included the owners of Parcels 99 and 113. All of these landowners and citizens of Manti stated there were no streets, alleys, sidewalks, or any public improvements on any of said premises to be detached and disconnected from the City. The

effect of these ancient documents is to show that there was no road between Parcels 99 and 113. It is also interesting to note that the map of the area to be disconnected makes a jag to take in this specific property, namely Parcels 99 and 113 and the strip of land located between the said parcels.

To prove there once was a road, the Defendants-Respondents called the following witnesses:

First: William T. Hall, an 80 year old resident of Manti who died soon after this testimony, stated that he could remember when the land in question as well as land located further north was not separated by fences and that there were bars to get into the premises. He stated that all of the land was used as a community cow range. He testified that there was a public road over the premises, but on Cross-examination on page 39 he stated:

“Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) So that, in other word, there wasn’t any definite markings of a road. It was merely a couple of gates through the field?

Answer: Well, that is right. That is right.

MR. TIBBS: That is all.

THE WITNESS: There were just bars.

MR. WOOLLEY: That is all then.”

Second: Defendants-Respondents also relied on the testimony of Fred W. Cox who testified there once was a road between the two Parcels. He is the same Fred W. Cox who signed the Petition in Civil Case No. 786 in 1910 as previously referred to, which stated in effect that there was no road over the premises.

On page 107 on Direct-examination, he testified where the road went through the premises.

“Question: (By Mr. Woolley) State whether or not there was any bars in that fence?

Answer: There was bars down by Uncle Haze Clark’s Stack yard.

Question: Were there any bars in that fence near the cemetery corner: that far south?

Answer: No. Not that I ever remember.

Question: You don’t remember those?

Answer: No. We came down to the bottom of Parcel 99 and then went right out through these bars.

Question: What bars are you talking about?

Answer Well, the bars over next to the cemetery line here to where Uncle Haze Clark’s stack yard was. We came right out on the south side of his stack yard and come in to the lane across from over to the bottom of Parcel 99.”

Consequently, the road he described, if any, was not on the strip of land between parcel 99 and 113, but located on the land farther to the north. It is worth noting in regards to this testimony that the “Uncle Haze Clark” referred to, is the same person as H. R. Clark, the witness for the Plaintiff, who testified there has never been a road over the strip of land between Parcels 99 and 113.

Third: The Defendant Manti City also relied on William Ambrose Tuttle to prove there was a public road.

He testified on page 126 about the gates being located on the Clark premises.

“Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) You mentioned getting out of the gates down by Mr. Clark’s premises, didn’t you?

Answer: There was bars. There was not gates.

Question: The bars?

Answer: That is right.

Question: That was on the east fence?

Answer: That is right. That runs north.

MR. TIBBS: I call the court’s attention to the fact that the Clark premises are not the premises known as 113 or 99. They are premises further to the north.

THE COURT: That is my impression.

THE WITNESS: Well, I am not acquainted, of course - -

Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) Just one other question, Ambrose, excuse me. But I know you well, too. You have gone through ditches and over lanes, through all of the dogon farm land around here, haven’t you.

Answer: Yes, sir.”

On page 125 Mr. Tuttle also testified that he never saw anyone go over the strip of land between Parcels 99 and 113.

“Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) How old were you then?

Answer: I was about six years old. I would say about ’96 when it was. As I have stated, I am seventy-three, will be on the first day of August.

Question: Did you ever see anybody else travel through there?

Answer: No, sir. I never did.

Question: Drive cattle through?

Answer: No. I don't know anybody ever drove cattle through. As I say, I am not acquainted and not prepared to argue or make any statements on that."

The Plaintiff-Appellant to prove there was never a road located between Parcels 99 and 113 called Dr. H. R. Clark, a lifetime resident of Manti, whose family owned the premises immediately to the north of Parcel 113 and who has been familiar with Parcel 99 and 113 for over 70 years. He testified on page 77 as follows:

"Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) So you can nearly remember back seventy years, is that correct?

Answer: Yes, sir. I herded cows up and down that lane all my young life.

Question: Now that lane is the lane between the Cox farm - -

Answer: And the cemetery.

Question: The cemetery. Dr. Clark, during this time do you ever remember of a public road traveling from the cemetery lane, if you want to call it that, west across the Grant Cox farm?

Answer: No, sir. There never was a road there.

Question: Do you ever remember the public traversing that, those - -

Answer: No, sir. They never did.

Question: - - lands? Did you ever remember a road being fenced over those lands?

Answer: No, I don't.

Question: During this time has, have those lands been used for farming purposes?

Answer: Always. As near as I know.

Question: Have they always been occupied by farmers?

Answer: Yes, sir.

Question: Has there ever been strips running east and west that weren't farmed or weren't occupied by the farmers that were occupying the land?

Answer: No, sir."

The Plaintiff's family owned the Parcels in question and on page 59 she testified concerning her knowledge of the premises.

"Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) Have you been familiar with this land for the past forty years then?

Answer: I think I could say that I have been.

Question: During that time, Mrs. Cox, has there ever been a road over that land?

Answer: Not to my recollection.

Question: Have you ever seen the public cross that land at any place going from east to west?

Answer: Not that I remember of. As I remember it, our ten acres joined right on the land owned by Mr. Henry that was right to the bottom of our farm, of our top ten acres, and there was willows, and, of course, the fence, and then there was willows and shrubs along the bottom. Not shrubs, but willows, rose bushes, things of that nature, that was along the bottom of the fence.

Question: Did you subsequently come into possession of the property that you designate owned by Mr. Henry?

Answer: Yes. My father bought it from Mr. Henry."

On page 92 Grant Cox, the husband of the Plaintiff, testified concerning his knowledge that there was not a road over the premises.

“Question: (By Mr. Tibbs) Since you’ve been familiar with this land and since you have owned this land has there, has anyone ever had possession of a strip of land across, crossing this farm other than the occupant of the premises, Parcel 99, Parcel 113?

Answer: Nobody has ever had access to that land except us.”

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The main question involved is whether or not Manti City should be prevented from building a road over a platted street outside the City limits, which land has been used and improved as part of the Plaintiff’s farming operation.

In the Trial Court the Plaintiff argued two points:

1. That under the Federal Townsite acts of March 2, 1867, the Mayor of Manti was given title to the land, in Trust for the several use and benefit of the occupants thereof, according to their respective interests. The Plaintiff relies on the Deed from the Mayor of Manti City dated December 14, 1871, recorded May 12, 1874, as to Parcel 99, and on the Deed dated December 21, 1871, recorded January 10, 1872, as to Parcel 113. Plaintiff contends that because these Deeds are dated prior to the time the Mayor of Manti received the premises in trust, it shows that the premises, both Parcels 99 and 113, and the strip between them, were occupied prior to the time the Mayor received the patent.

2. That in the event the Court did not hold that the strip of land located between Parcel 99 and Parcel 113 was held in trust for the Plaintiff or her predecessors who were occupiers of said land then the Plaintiff contends the City is estopped to open up the road because of the exceptional circumstances involved and because equity and justice requires that the municipality be precluded from causing irreparable injury to this plaintiff who honestly and in good faith and acting because of the City's conduct made the valuable improvements to the entire 80 acre farm by leveling and placing an engineered irrigation system on same.

SPECIFICATION OF POINTS RELIED UPON
FOR A REVERSAL OF THE
JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM

The errors upon which the Appellant relies for the reversal of the Judgment appealed from are:

POINT I

BECAUSE OF THE EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES INVOLVED THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO USE THE DOCTRINE OF ESTOPPEL TO PREVENT THE DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT MANTI CITY FROM OPENING THE 66 FOOT WIDE STRIP OF LAND USED AS PART OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FARM AS A PUBLIC STREET.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NUMBER 8, WHERE IT FOUND THAT THE 66 FOOT WIDE STRIP OF LAND BETWEEN PARCELS 99 AND 113, PLAT "A" MANTI CITY SURVEY, HAD BEEN USED AS A PUBLIC STREET.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NUMBER 9, WHERE IT FOUND THAT THE PLAINTIFF OR HER PREDECESSORS IN INTEREST WERE NOT IN OCCUPANCY OF THE SAID 66 FOOT WIDE STRIP OF LAND AT THE TIME OF THE ENTRY UPON THE LAND BY THE CORPORATE AUTHORITIES OF MANTI CITY.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NUMBER 10, WHEN IT HELD THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE 66 FOOT WIDE STRIP WAS OCCUPIED BY ANY PRIVATE PERSON AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO THE DATE OF THE PATENT TO LUTHER T. TUTTLE, MAYOR OF MANTI, AND THAT IF THE 66 FOOT WIDE STRIP WAS NOT BEING USED AS A PUBLIC STREET AT THE TIME OF THE ENTRY, IT WAS VACANT AND UNOCCUPIED, AND ON JANUARY 25, 1892, WAS DEDICATED AS A PUBLIC STREET.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NUMBER 12, WHEN IT FOUND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF LEGAL ABANDONMENT OR ANY ABANDONMENT OF THE PUBLIC STREET BY MANTI CITY OR BY OFFICIAL CITY OR COUNTY ACTION.

ARGUMENT

This is an action in equity and in law. It is either admitted in the pleadings or is stipulated by the parties that Manti City is a Municipal Corporation, that the Plaintiff Ludean H. Cox is the owner and is in possession of Parcel 99 and Parcel 113, Plat "A" of Manti City Survey. Plat "A" of Manti City Survey shows a strip of land between Parcels 99 and 113 held in the name of Luther Tuttle, Mayor of Manti City in trust for the several use and benefit of the occupants of the City according to their respective interests. It is the Defendants' contention that the strip of land is a road and that they have possession of it. It is Plaintiff's contention that they and their predecessors in interest have always had the possession of the strip of land between Parcels 99 and 113, and that said strip of land has always been used as a part of the farming operation of Plaintiff and her predecessors. Plaintiff further contends that the City has never had possession of said strip of land, that there has never been a road located on it.

Plaintiff's testimony is to the effect that for over 40 years she has been familiar with the property, and during this time there has never been a public road across the premises.

Dr. H. R. Clark, a life long resident of Manti, testified that his father owned the land immediately north of Parcel 113. He testified he could remember for over seventy years, and that based upon his memory and familiarity with these premises he knew there had never been a public road across them, and that the strip of land, if there was one, had always been used by the occupants of the land as part of their farm.

Grant Cox, husband of the Plaintiff testified that he had been farming the premises since approximately 1933, and knew that since that time there has never been a road across the land.

The Court admitted in evidence Civil Case No. 786 in the District Court in and for Sanpete County, wherein a Petition was filed by Fred Jensen and others -vs- Manti City, praying for the detachment from the City limits of certain territory, including Parcel 99 and Parcel 113, and the strip of land located between them. This Petition was signed by over $\frac{3}{4}$ ths of the farmers owning land immediately north of Manti City, including plaintiffs predecessors in interest. The Petitioners on March 4, 1910, stated that they were the owners of the land immediately to the East and North of the boundaries of Manti City, that the land was used for agricultural purposes, that the land was located outside the City as indicated by streets and roads, and they stated that the land was situated out of and remote from the range of Municipal benefits, there being no streets, alleys, or sidewalks, or any other improvements thereon. They also stated that the land had not been utilized or needed for Municipal purposes, and it was entirely unlikely and improbable that the City would ever be extended to, or upon said land, or that any streets, driveways, or other improvements would ever be had or made.

In response to the Petition an Order was served upon Manti City in the same manner as a Summons. A Publication of Notice was published in the Manti Messenger for ten days, and the Default of Manti City was entered on April 4, 1910. The Court appointed three Commissioners to adjust

the terms of the property to be severed, and to determine the mutual property rights of the City to the territory to be detached. The Commissioners reported there was no property belonging to said City, or in which the City had any interest, located or situated on or upon the said described territory, or any part thereof. This covered Parcels 99 and 113 and the 66 foot strip of land now claimed by Manti City. The Court on May 20, 1910, by A. J. Christensen, Judge, issued an Order in pursuance to the Commissioners' report and prayer, and it was ordered that the territory be disconnected and segregated from Manti City.

In comparison with the Plaintiff's evidence the Defendants presented the testimony of three witnesses, namely, William Terry Hall, F. W. Cox, and Ambrose Tuttle.

In analyzing the testimony in the best light favorable to the Defendants, Mr. Hall testified that he had travelled across this land, and that there was a bar-gate on the West end of the William Bench land, and a bar-gate on the Haze Clark land, which incidently, Haze Clark is the same as Dr. H. R. Clark that testified there had never been a road on the premises. Mr. Hall stated that there was a road running West from 1st East to the Cannery, that if they wanted to go through they lifted the bars down and traveled across the land. He knew there was a road because when he was a kid he and his father hauled hay across it. He stated other people used it, but he couldn't say who. He also stated that he went over it to avoid going into Manti City and around to 5th North and back. He stated that Brother Clark, Mr. Bench, Old Mr. Barton and Shomaker never objected. He stated that he and his father always respected the rights of

the land owners.

Mr. Fred W. Cox testified that he farmed with his father William Arthur Cox in 1905 or 1906 to 1911. He claimed that he had crossed this land on numerous occasions, and then stated that the bars of the gates were on the land of "Uncle Haze Clark". Viewing his testimony in the best light, it appears that he had gone across part of the premises, but that the gate was not on the strip of land between Parcel 99 and Parcel 113, but was farther North on the Clark property, North of Parcel 113.

The last witness relied upon by Defendants was Ambrose Tuttle. He testified that on two different occasions he took equipment on the land known as the Cox premises. That there was a road on the farm land, and in order to get to it from the West he had to cover a deep ditch using 2 by 4's. He testified he did not know if it was a public road. He also testified that he had gone over most of the roads and lanes in Sanpete County and on many individual's farms.

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