1992

Ludean H. Cox v. Edward C. Carlisle, Mayor of
Manti City, Manti City, a municiple corporation,
Henry Henningson, John McIntosh and Ed
Nielson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDING THAT A 66-FOOT STREET EXISTED BETWEEN PARCELS 99 AND 113 AT THE TIME OF THE ENTRY OF MAYOR TUTTLE UNDER THE TOWNSITE ACT.

Plaintiff and defendants seem to agree that the Utah law relating to rights of occupants under the Townsite Act of 1867 is set out in *Hall et al. v. North Ogden City et al.*, 109 Utah 325, 175 P.2d 703 (1946). There it was held that a conveyance by the probate judge, acting as trustee, to a city or town in contravention of the rights of the occupant as of the date of the entry, was void. The case also held that although a claimant had presented a claim for and participated in an adjudication as to certain properties, this was not *res judicata* as to adjacent land claimed by the city to have been dedicated as public streets.

In the *Hall* case, however, it was stipulated that, except for one small tract, none of the lands had ever been opened up or used as streets by the public, and the only evidence, apparently, as to that tract, was that it had never been opened up as a street. The plaintiff here doesn't have such a stipulation or such proof. On the other hand, there is enough evidence against her to support—even require—a finding that the plaintiff and her predecessors were not in occupancy of the disputed strip at the time of entry under the Townsite Act.

First, there is the official plat of Manti City as introduced in evidence at the trial (Defendants' Exhibit 5). This map shows a 66-foot street between Parcels 99 and 113. There is a certificate on the exhibit that it is a correct map of a survey made by the County Surveyor in February, 1871, about three months prior to the entry. At the trial, this map was the most reliable probative evidence of the existence of streets and the occupancy of lands in Manti City at the time of the entry.

It has been held, in a case decided under the Townsite Act, that such a map is *prima facie* evidence of the facts shown in it. In *Placer County et al. v. Lake Tahoe Ry. and Transportation et al.*, 58 Cal. App. 764, 209 Pac. 900 (1922), there was a dispute as to whether lands platted as a public common had been occupied at the time of the entry. The court said:

"In the first place, it is to be observed that a map made in 1863 was introduced in evidence and thereon Block 6 was marked and designated as public common and the Bethel map, as seen, corresponds in that particular with said map of 1863. We refer to the last mentioned map because it is stated by counsel for the defendants that there is no evidence to show that

prior to the survey of the townsite made by Bethel in 1871 Block 6 constituted a public common and because, also, they contend that the mere fact that Bethel marked and designated Block 6 on his map as public common is not evidence that the block was previously regarded as public common. Now, as to the Bethel map on which the whole of Block 6 is marked designated as public common, said map having been made by and under the authority of the act of the legislature of 1867 and 1868, *supra*, constitute, by virtue of the provisions of section 3 of said act, 'prima facie evidence of the content and correctness thereof in all the courts of this state.' Hence the burden was upon the defendant mercantile company to overthrow or overcome, by competent evidence, the fixed probative effect imparted by the law to said map and the field notes made at the same time. This burden the mercantile company failed to sustain."

Utah, too, has a statute which makes the surveyor's map of 1871 *prima facie* evidence of its contents. It is provided in 78-25-3 Utah Code Annotated 1953:

"Entries in public or other official books or records, made in the performance of his duty by a public officer of this state or by any other person in the performance of a duty specially enjoined by the law, are prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein."

It was the County Surveyor's duty to make surveys and record them. See Territory of Utah, *Compiled Laws of 1876*, §§ 226-235.

Apart from statute, however, the 1871 map—the authenticity of which has not been challenged, and which was recognized by the Manti City council in adopting the map as the official plat of Manti City in 1892—is competent evidence

of the facts shown on the map, according to the overwhelming weight of authority, ancient and modern.

The general rule is stated in an annotation, "Admissibility in evidence of ancient maps and the like," 46 A.L.R. 2d 1318, 1320:

"An exception to the general rule which requires maps, surveys, and the like, to be authenticated by the testimony of the party making the same exists where the documents are ancient. Maps, surveys, etc., purporting to be thirty years old or more are said to prove themselves and are admissible in evidence without the ordinary requirements as to the proof of execution or handwriting if relevant to the inquiry, when produced from proper custody, on their face free from suspicion, and authorized or recognized as official documents."

The plat and map of Manti City, prepared in February, 1871, by E. W. Fox, County Surveyor, meets the requirements set out in the reported cases. The map, therefore, is evidence that there was a 66-foot street between Parcels 99 and 113 at the time of the entry by Mayor Luther T. Tuttle.

And the map isn't the only evidence. The conduct of plaintiff's predecessors would lead one to believe that there was a street separating Parcel 99 from 113. As pointed out in the Statement of Facts, William Bench in his declaratory statement, and both William Bench and William H. Cox in the land adjudication proceedings, described their property in the same way as it was shown on the map: same dimensions, same acreage. Neither Mr. Cox nor Mr. Bench said anything to the court about being entitled to the possession of the 66-foot strip between Parcels 99 and 113, nor to any part of it. A fact finder would have to leave the realm of reality to

avoid reaching the conclusion that the strip wasn't claimed because the claimants knew it was a city street.

To overcome this evidence of the County Surveyor, the council of Manti City (which adopted the plat as official), and the declaratory statement and the statements before the probate court, the plaintiff has introduced not a trace of evidence relating to occupancy of the street *at the time of entry*.

There was some testimony by plaintiff's witnesses, it is true, to the effect that there never was a street between Parcels 99 and 113. But their memories didn't go back beyond the 1890's, and some of the testimony doesn't appear to have any probative value. For instance, Mrs. Cox, the plaintiff, couldn't remember past 1918—some 47 years after the entry. Even if testimony about the conditions in 1892 were relevant to prove conditions in 1871, nevertheless the defendants introduced testimony from disinterested witnesses to the effect that there was a street (admittedly not paved, curbed and guttered as are modern streets in modern cities) for a long time after 1871. Could this court, on that state of the evidence, direct a trial court to find that there was no street between Parcels 99 and 113 at the time of entry; and, beyond that, to find that plaintiff's predecessors occupied the strip?

II.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO ABANDONMENT OR VACATION OF THE STREET.

Under the present Utah statute, cities and towns may vacate public streets only by ordinance (10-8-8 Utah Code Annotated 1953). The requirement that the vacation of streets by a city be done by ordinance first came into Utah law by Chapter 123, *Laws of Utah*, 1917, § 206 x 8. Prior to that time the statute had provided only that cities and towns might vacate streets, without specifying the method.

Inasmuch as there is no evidence that any ordinance was ever adopted or other official action taken, to vacate the street in question, plaintiff must rely upon some act of the city in carrying out an intention to abandon the street, and this prior to adoption of the 1917 amendment.

Plaintiff apparently seeks to become owner of a city street by virtue of the 1910 disconnection proceeding, though her theory is not clear to defendants since the 1910 decree did nothing more than remove a large parcel of property from Manti City. The street was "disconnected" from Manti—but it continued to connect two sides of Manti. The southern boundary of the disconnected portion was not a straight line, and Manti's northern boundary after the disconnectoin looked something like this:



The street connects sides A and B. (See Exhibits 2 and 5).

Even if the court should conclude that the city has no power to open or maintain a street outside the city limits, this

would still not help the plaintiff. The most that would happen would be that the street *as street* might go to Sanpete County, while the strip *as real property* would remain in Manti City.

In *Odom v. Wood*, 177 S.W. 2d 165 (Mo. App. 1944) it was held that upon separation of lands from a city the right to streets within the separated area vested in the county. And in *Knight v. Thomas*, 35 Utah 470, 101 Pac. 383 (1909) this court held that upon vacation of a street the right to occupy and use the land is in the owner of the fee. The court said:

"If all the interest which the city had in and to the land was only with respect to the public way on the land, then on vacation of the street, all its interest in and to the land ceased. * * * When the street is vacated, the right to occupy and use the land belongs to him in whom the fee is—the city, or the original landowner if it was reserved by him and not conveyed, or to the abutting property owners—and the land is subject to all the use and enjoyment and burdens of other lands; and *if the fee is in the city the land is just as much real property as is other lands owned by the city.*" (Emphasis added.)

Moreover, there is no evidence that an ordinance was adopted by Sanpete County abandoning or vacating the street, if it should be assumed that Sanpete County, after the disconnection, was the proper public body to do it. Prior to 1911 the statute regulating the power of counties to abandon highways provided as follows:

"All highways once established must continue to be highways until abandoned by order of the Board of County Commissioners of the county in which they are situated, by operation of law; or by judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, that a road

not used or worked for a period of five years ceases to be a highway." *Compiled Laws of Utah*, 1907, § 1116.

In 1911, the year after the disconnection proceeding, the statute was amended by Chapter 142, *Laws of Utah*, 1911, to read as follows:

"All highways once established must continue to be highways until abandoned by order of the Board of County Commissioners of the county in which they are situated, or by judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction." (Cf. 27-1-3 Uth Code Annotated 1953.)

To prove abandonment or vacation of the street the plaintiff must prove some affirmative act on the part of the city or the county indicating an intention to abandon. If she relies upon the action of the county, it must be upon some unofficial act or non-user for a five-year period prior to 1911. This she cannot do, since the county did not become involved until after the 1910 disconnection. There has been no statute providing that city streets may be abandoned by non-user for five or any other number of years.

The question of what is necessary to constitute abandonment of the street by a city was considered in *Tooele City v. Elkington et al.*, 100 Utah 485, 116 P.2d 406 (1941). This court distinguished earlier cases between strictly private parties, where conduct of the city had been a factor and seemed to indicate that a good deal more than non-user would be required if an adverse title were asserted against a city itself.

In the present case plaintiff must rely solely upon the fact that for a number of years the city did not improve and maintain the public street. Moreover, this would have to have

been for a number of years prior to 1917, because since then cities have not been able to abandon or vacate a street by any other method than by ordinance. (See 10-8-8 U.C.A. 1953, and its history in *Tooele City v. Elkington*, *supra*).

To establish abandonment of the street, the plaintiff must show not only non-user but an *intention to abandon*. It has been stated that non-user is only an evidentiary fact aiding in the resolution of the question of intention. It has also been held that non-use, coupled with failure to remove obstructions erected by abutting owners and others has been held not to amount to abandonment and that an intention to abandon is not established by negative or equivocal acts. 11 *McQuillan on Municipal Corporations* (3d Ed.) § 30.182; 1 *Antieau on Municipal Corporation Law* 580.

Although the statutes prior to 1917 did not prescribe the method by which a street would have to be vacated by a city, "vacation" is an "affirmative act." 11 *McQuillan on Municipal Corporations* (3d Ed.), *supra*; it ordinarily describes "termination of the existence of a highway by direct action of the public authorities." *Bond v. Green et al.*, 189 Va. 23, 52 S.E. 2d 169, 172. There is no evidence that anything was done by Manti City or Sanpete County to vacate the street. The plat and the abstracts, as well as the property descriptions in all conveyances, showed the street, and all conveyances of property were made with relation to it. Accordingly, it would seem that there was no vacation, that the street continued in existence, and that the city owned the fee, unless the city is estopped from claiming title to the strip and the right to open the street.

Although this court has not set out just what is necessary for a city to do to abandon a street, it has recognized that different rules govern the abandonment or vacation of city streets than the abandonment of highways by a county. In *Sowadzki v. Salt Lake County*, 36 Utah 127, 104 Pac. 111, 115 (1909), decided during the period when a county could abandon roads by five-years' non-use, the court said:

" * * * the legislature has always treated streets as being controlled by different provisions than those which affect county highways. In view of these provisions, and others which require no special mention, we are of the opinion that the legislature intended the streets in cities and towns should be governed by a different rule with regard to the abandonment thereof than are roads and highways in the county outside of such cities and towns. The reason for such distinction is clearly pointed out by some of the authorities heretofore cited as well as in those hereafter noticed. But independently of such reasons, if the legislature has made such a difference (and we think it has), then it becomes our duty to enforce it."

III.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANTS ARE NOT ESTOPPED FROM CLAIMING TITLE TO AND OPENING THE STREET.

The plaintiff's most fervent argument is based upon what she calls "extraordinary circumstances" which should estop the city from opening the street. She relies upon the decision of this court in *Wall v. Salt Lake City*, 50 Utah 593, 168 Pac. 766, (1917), seeing in the instant case "extraordinary circumstances" like those in *Wall*. We don't agree.

In *Wall v. Salt Lake City, supra*, there was affirmative misleading conduct, the city having actively led the plaintiff or her predecessors to expend money in subdividing and selling the lots, and to advance money on security of a mortgage. This had been done after several contacts had been made with the city and the city had approved a subdivision the existence of which was inconsistent with the location of a street thereafter claimed by the city. In *Wall v. Salt Lake City, supra*, the court correctly held that the defendants were estopped from claiming the street.

There were extraordinary factors present in that case: active misleading by the city; expenditure of large sums of money in reliance upon the city's action; taxation of the property in question to the land owners over a number of years; and collection and use of the taxes by the city.

In the present case those factors are absent. We have, at most, non-action by the city with respect to maintaining the street between Parcels 99 and 113. In addition, the evidence as to improvements is of an equivocal character; there is no evidence of substantial monetary loss to the defendants; there is evidence that many of the improvements relied upon by the plaintiff as a basis for estoppel were made after the city had given notice of its intention to re-open the street; in continued transfers of the property plaintiff's predecessors have recognized the existence of the street; no one in the chain of title has paid taxes on the property or sought to have it assessed; and they have had the benefits of possession and use without paying rent.

Plaintiff's case is weaker than the one held by this court

in *Tooele City v. Elkington*, *supra*, 100 Utah 485, 116 P.2d 406 (1941), to be insufficient to raise an estoppel. There the court said:

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